
IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
FOR THE DISTRICT OF COLORADO

Civil Action No. __________________

COLORADO CROSS-DISABILITY COALITION, a Colorado non-profit Corporation, and
DAISY MIDTHUN,

Plaintiffs,

v.

WOMEN’S HEALTH CARE ASSOCIATES, P.C.,

Defendant.

AMENDED COMPLAINT

Plaintiffs, Colorado Cross-Disability Coalition and Daisy Midthun, by and through their

attorneys, Kevin W. Williams of the Colorado Cross-Disability Coalition Legal Program, hereby

submit this Complaint for violations of Title III of the Americans with Disabilities Act (“ADA”),

42 U.S.C. § 12181 et seq., the Colorado Civil Rights Act (“CCRA”), Colo. Rev. Stat. § 24-34-

601 et seq., and Section 504 of the Rehabilitation Act (“Section 504”).

INTRODUCTION

1. Almost twenty years after the passage of the ADA, Women’s Health Care

Associates, P.C. refuses to provide one of its patients, Daisy Midthun, who is deaf with a sign

language interpreter that is effective at communicating with her at medical appointments.

2. Defendant has provided interpreters for Ms. Midthun; however, Ms. Midthun has

informed Women’s Health Care Associates that these interpreters do not provide effective

communication.
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3. The federal Americans with Disabilities Act (“ADA”) was enacted in 1990, “[t]o

establish a clear and comprehensive prohibition of discrimination on the basis of disability.”

The ADA prohibits professional offices of a medical provider, like Women’s Health Care

Associates, from discriminating on the basis of disability.

4. Specifically, health care providers must provide individuals who are deaf with

auxiliary aids and service, such as sign language interpreters, that provide “effective

communication.”

5. According to the United States Department of Justice, the agency charged with

interpreting Title III of the ADA:

Who decides what type of auxiliary aid should be provided?  Public
accommodations should consult with individuals with disabilities wherever
possible to determine what type of auxiliary aid is needed to ensure effective
communication.  In many cases, more than one type of auxiliary aid or service
may make effective communication possible.  While consultation is strongly
encouraged, the ultimate decision as to what measures to take to ensure effective
communication rests in the hands of the public accommodation, provided that the
method chosen results in effective communication.

. . . 

ILLUSTRATION:  A patient who is deaf brings his own sign language interpreter
for an office visit without prior consultation and bills the physician for the cost of
the interpreter.  The physician is not obligated to comply with the unilateral
determination by the patient that an interpreter is necessary.  The physician must
be given an opportunity to consult with the patient and make an independent
assessment of what type of auxiliary aid, if any, is necessary to ensure effective
communication.  If the patient believes that the physician's decision will not lead
to effective communication, then the patient may challenge that decision under
title III by initiating litigation or filing a complaint with the Department of Justice 

. . .      
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This communication must be conveyed effectively, accurately, and impartially,
through the use of any necessary specialized vocabulary.

ADA Title III Technical Assistance Manual Covering Public Accommodations and Commercial

Facilities § III-4.3100 (emphasis added).

6. Rather than work with Ms. Midthun to ensure that she understands the

information being conveyed, Women’s Health Care Associates chose to provide Ms. Midthun

with interpreters Ms. Midthun has said are not effectively communicating with her.

JURISDICTION

7. This Court has subject matter jurisdiction over this action pursuant to 28 U.S.C.

§§ 1331 and 1343 and pursuant to its pendent jurisdiction over claims brought under the laws of

the State of Colorado.

8. Venue is proper within this District pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1391.

PARTIES

9. Colorado Cross-Disability Coalition (“CCDC”) is a Colorado non-profit

corporation whose members are persons with disabilities and their non-disabled allies.

10. Daisy Midthun is deaf and, therefore, is substantially limited in the major life

activity of hearing.  Ms. Midthun is a CCDC member.

11. Women’s Health Care Associates, P.C. (“WHCA”)  is a professional corporation

and operates a “professional office of a health care provider” as decided in 42 U.S.C. §

12181(7)(F), and has its principal place of business at 7720 South Broadway, Littleton, Colorado

80122-2624.  WHCA is registered to do business in Colorado. 
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GENERAL ALLEGATIONS

12. Women’s Health Care Associates is a medical clinic that, according to its website,

“provides premiere health care for women,” “specializing in routine and high-risk obstetrics,

infertility treatment, and gynecology.”

13. According to medical records, Daisy Midthun has been a patient of Women’s

Health Care Associates since approximately 1994.

14. Ms. Midthun has been to WHCA’s offices more several times as needed for

appointments.

15. Unfortunately, although Ms. Midthun requested WHCA provide qualified sign

language interpreters so she could understand effectively communications with WHCA medical

professionals, WHCA refused to do so.

16. Ms. Midthun has requested Defendant provide qualified sign language

interpreters to facilitate communication between herself and medical staff at the clinic.

17. Women’s Health Care Associates has, at times in the past, provided sign language

interpreters for Ms. Midthun’s medical appointments.

18. The sign language interpreters provided have not provided effective

communication for Ms. Midthun.

19. During some appointments, WHCA personnel have attempted to communicate

using handwritten notes.

20. At times, WHCA has not provided interpreters during Ms. Midthun’s visits there.

21. Ms. Midthun has made Women’s Health Care Associates aware that the
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communication is not effective.

22. Prior to an appointment in 2007, Ms. Midthun contacted WHCA to request that

WHCA use the services of a particular sign language interpreter agency with whom she was

familiar in order to ensure she understood what the doctor said to her.

23. On September 2, 2009, Ms. Midthun contacted WHCA to schedule an

appointment.

24. During this call using a video relay service,1 Ms. Midthun explained to Kathy

Spring she needed a qualified sign language interpreter that would provide effective

communication at her next appointment.

25. Ms. Midthun explained that the interpreter WHCA provided before and had been

using was not able to communicate effectively with her for her medical appointments.

26. Ms. Midthun requested WHCA provide sign language interpreters from a sign

language interpreting agency who she knew would provide her with effective communication.

27. Ms. Spring instructed Ms. Midthun to contact Debbie Harmon who is believed to

be the person who is responsible for scheduling interpreters for WHCA.

28. Ms. Midthun contacted Ms. Harmon.

29. Instead of working with Ms. Midthun to ensure effective communication was

provided, Ms. Harmon contacted a lawyer.

30. On September 15, 2009, Anne Randolph Cox, General Counsel and Corporate

1 See Federal Communications Commission description of video relay service or V.R.S.
available on its website at URL http://www.fcc.gov/cgb/consumerfacts/videorelay.html.
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Secretary for COPIC insurance, the insurance company for WHCA, e-mailed Ms. Harmon

explaining that a physician is not obligated to pay the cost of a unilateral decision by the patient

to choose an interpreter.  Ms. Cox cited the ADA Technical Assistance Manual.

31. On information and belief, Ms. Harmon mailed that e-mail message to Ms.

Midthun and informed Ms. Midthun WHCA would not use the services of the agency Ms.

Midthun requested.

32. Despite Ms. Midthun’s request and explanation of her concerns, Women’s Health

Care Associates did not consult appropriately with Ms. Midthun to ensure communication would

be effective.

33. On June 1, 2010, undersigned counsel sent a letter to WHCA explaining again

that Ms. Midthun wanted to schedule an appointment with WHCA if they were willing to

schedule interpreters from an agency Ms. Midthun knew would provide effective

communication.

34. WHCA never responded to that letter.

35. As a result, Ms. Midthun was deterred from scheduling an appointment with

WHCA.

36. Ms. Midthun would like to continue receiving services from WHCA and will

schedule appointments again if WHCA will work with her to provide a sign language interpreter

or service that will provide her with effective communication during her medical appointments.

37. Ms. Midthun has been harmed and will continue to be harmed by the lack of

effective communication at her medical appointments.
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38. CCDC is a membership organization having members who have disabilities,

including members who are deaf, throughout the state of Colorado.

39. The interests at stake in this litigation are germane to CCDC’s mission and

purpose -- eradicating discrimination against individuals with disabilities.

40. The participation of individual CCDC members in the lawsuit is not required

either to resolve the claims at issue or to formulate relief.

41. Defendant maintains and/or engage in policies, practices and procedures that do

not provide effective communication for patients who are deaf.

FIRST CLAIM FOR RELIEF
(Violations of the Americans with Disabilities Act)

42. Plaintiffs reallege and reincorporate by reference the remainder of the allegations

set forth in this Complaint as if fully set forth herein.

43. Defendant owns and operates a professional office of a health care provider.

44. W omen’s Health Care Associates is a public accommodation under 42 U.S.C. §

12181(7)(F).

45. Women’s Health Care Associates is required to provide its patients with auxiliary

aids and services, which includes qualified sign language interpreters, for individuals who are

deaf. 28 C.F.R. § 36.303.

46. Defendant is required to take steps to ensure that communication with its deaf

patients is effective.  28 C.F.R. § 36.303(d).

47. Defendant failed to furnish appropriate auxiliary aids and services to ensure
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communication with Ms. Midthun was effective.

48. Defendant’s policy will prevent it from providing appropriate auxiliary aids and

services to patients who are deaf in the future.

49. Plaintiffs have been harmed and, in the future, will be harmed in the absence of

the relief requested.

SECOND CLAIM FOR RELIEF
(Violation of the Colorado Civil Rights Act “CCRA,” Colo. Rev. Stat. § 24-34-601, et seq.)

50. Plaintiffs reallege and reincorporate by reference the remainder of the allegations

set forth in this Complaint as if fully set forth herein.

51. Under the CCRA, 

It is a discriminatory practice and unlawful for a person, directly or indirectly, to refuse,
withhold from, or deny to an individual or a group, because of disability . . ., the full and
equal enjoyment of the goods, services, facilities, privileges, advantages, or
accommodations of a place of public accommodation[.] 

Colo. Rev. Stat. § 24-34-601(1).

52. WHCA is a “place of public accommodation” under the CCRA.  Colo. Rev. Stat.

§ 24-34-601(1).

53. Any person who violates the CCRA “shall forfeit and pay a sum of not less than

fifty dollars nor more than five hundred dollars to the person aggrieved thereby . . . .”  Colo.

Rev. Stat. § 24-34-602(1).  “Upon finding a violation, the court shall order the defendant to pay

the fine to the aggrieved party.”   Colo. Rev. Stat. § 24-34-602(1).

54. Defendant owns and operates WHCA and employs or contracts with the

individuals about whose actions Plaintiffs complain in this lawsuit.  
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55. Defendant is liable for the failures to comply with the CCRA.

56. The CCRA is to be construed consistently with the ADA and other federal civil

rights statutes.  3 Colo. Code. Reg. 708.60.1(c).

57. As set forth in this Complaint, Defendant has violated the CCRA by failing to

provide Ms. Midthun with effective communication and  is likely to deny her and other patients

who are deaf effective communication.

58. Defendant’s violations of the CCRA have harmed Plaintiffs and will continue to

harm Plaintiffs unless the Court orders Defendant to comply.

59. Plaintiffs have been damaged and will continue to be damaged by Defendant’s

violations of the CCRA.

THIRD CLAIM FOR RELIEF
(Violation of Section 504 of the Rehabilitation Act, 29 U.S.C. § 794 et seq.)

60. Plaintiffs reallege and reincorporate by reference the remainder of the allegations

set forth in this Complaint as if fully set forth herein.

61. Section 504 prohibits discrimination against individuals with disabilities by

entities that receive federal financial assistance.  29 U.S.C. § 794(a).

62. Defendant receives federal financial assistance.

63. For the reasons set forth in this Complaint, Defendant discriminated against

Plaintiffs and will continue to discriminate against Plaintiffs unless the relief granted is

requested.

64. Plaintiffs have been harmed and will continue to be harmed by Defendant’s
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actions unless this Court orders Defendant to comply.

PRAYER FOR RELIEF

WHEREFORE, plaintiffs respectfully pray:

1. That this Court assume jurisdiction;

2. that this Court issue an injunction ordering Defendants to comply with the ADA,

the CCRA and Section 504;

3. that this Court award monetary damages to Plaintiffs to the maximum extent

permitted;

4. that this Court award reasonable attorneys’ fees and costs; and

5. that this Court award such additional or alternative relief as may be just, proper

and equitable.

JURY DEMAND:  Plaintiffs demand a jury on all issues which can be heard by a jury.

Dated: August 30, 2010

Respectfully submitted,

/s Kevin W. Williams                    
Kevin W. Williams
Colorado Cross-Disability Coalition
655 Broadway, Suite 775
Denver, CO 80203
Voice: 303.839.1775
TTY: 303.839.0015
Facsimile: 303.839.1782
E-mail: kwilliams@ccdconline.org

Address of Plaintiff Colorado Cross-Disability Coalition

655 Broadway, Suite 775
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Denver, CO 80203

Address of Daisy Midthun

4904 S. Routt St.
Littleton, CO 80127
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